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Project Overview  
 
This historic resources survey report ɉȰ3ÕÒÖÅÙ 2ÅÐÏÒÔȱɊ has been completed on behalf 
ÏÆ ÔÈÅ #ÉÔÙ ÏÆ ,ÏÓ !ÎÇÅÌÅÓ $ÅÐÁÒÔÍÅÎÔ ÏÆ #ÉÔÙ 0ÌÁÎÎÉÎÇȭÓ /ÆÆÉÃÅ ÏÆ (ÉÓÔÏÒÉÃ 2ÅÓÏÕÒÃÅÓ 
(OHR) for the SurveyLA historic resources survey of the Brentwood ɀ Pacific Palisades  
Community Plan Area (CPA). This project was undertaken from October 2012 to 
September 2013 by Historic Resources Group (HRG). 
 
This Survey Report provides a summary of the work completed, including a description 
of the Survey Area; an overview of the field methodology; a summary of relevant 
contexts, themes and property types; and complete lists of all recorded resources. This 
Survey Report is intended to be used in conjunction with the SurveyLA Field Results 
Master Report ɉȰ-ÁÓÔÅÒ 2ÅÐÏÒÔȱɊ which provides a detailed discussion of SurveyLA 
methodology and explains the terms used in this report and associated appendices. The 
Master Report, Survey Report, and Appendices, are available at www.surveyla.org. 
 
 

SurveyLA Methodology Summary  
 
Below is a brief summary of SurveyLA methodology. Refer to the Master Report 
discussed above for more information. 
 
Field Survey Methods 
 
¶ Properties surveyed for SurveyLA are evaluated for eligibility for listing in the 

National Register of Historic Places, California Register of Historical Resources, and 
for local designation as City Historic-Cultural Monuments (HCM) or Historic 
Preservation Overlay Zones (HPOZ), commonly known as historic districts. 

¶ Field surveyors cover the entire area within the boundaries of a CPA. However, only 
resources that have been identified as significant within the contexts developed for 
SurveyLA are recorded.  

¶ Consultants making resource evaluations meet ÔÈÅ 3ÅÃÒÅÔÁÒÙ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ )ÎÔÅÒÉÏÒȭÓ 
Professional Qualification Standards in Architectural History, History, or a related 
field.  

¶ Surveys focus on identifying significant resources dating from about 1850 to 1980. 

¶ All surveys are completed from the public right-of-way (from vehicles or on foot as 
needed). 

¶ Digital photographs are taken of all evaluated resources. 
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Field Surveys do not include: 
 
- Individual resources and historic districts (including HPOZs) that are already 

designated (listed in the National, California or local registers).  

- Community Redevelopment Area (CRA) surveys conducted within the last five 
years 

- Potential Historic Preservation Overlay Zone (HPOZ) areas which have been 
surveyed in the last five years and are in the process of being designated.  

 
SurveyLA Resources Types 
 
SurveyLA identifies individual resources, non-parcel resources, historic districts and 
district contributors and non-contributors. Each of these is described below. 
Appendices A, B, and C are organized by resource type.  
 
¶ Individual Resources  are generally resources located within a single assessor 

parcel such as a residence or duplex. However, a parcel may include more than one 
individual resource, if each appears to be significant. 

¶ Non-Parcel Resources are not associated with Assessor Parcel Numbers (APNs) 
and generally do not have addresses. Examples include street trees, street lights, 
landscaped medians, bridges, and signs. 

¶ Historic Districts  are areas that are related geographically and by theme. Districts 
may include single or multiple parcels, depending on the resource. Examples of 
resources that may be recorded as historic districts include residential 
neighborhoods, garden apartments, commercial areas, large estates, school and 
hospital campuses, and industrial complexes.  

¶ District Contributors and Non -Contributors  are buildings, structures, sites, 
objects, and other features located within historic districts. Generally, non-
contributing resources are those that are extensively altered, built outside the period 
of significance, or that do not relate to historic contexts and themes defined for the 
district.  

¶ Planning Districts  are areas that are related geographically and by theme, but do 
not meet eligibility standards for designation. This is generally because the majority 
of the contributing features have been altered, resulting in a cumulative impact on 
the overall integrity of the area that makes it ineligible as a Historic District. The 
Planning District determination, therefore, is used as a tool to inform new 
Community Plans being developed by the Department of City Planning. These areas 
have consistent planning features ɀ such as height, massing, setbacks, and street 
trees ɀ which warrant consideration in the local planning process. 
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Project Team  
 
The Brentwood ɀ Pacific Palisades CPA survey was conducted by Historic Resources 
Group. Historic Resources Group personnel included Kari Michele Fowler, Senior 
Preservation Planner; Christine Lazzaretto, Principal; Paul Travis, Principal; Robby 
Aranguren, Planning Associate, and Christy Johnson McAvoy, Founding Principal. 
Additi onal assistance was provided by intern Heather Goers. Kari Fowler served as the 
project manager. 
 
 

Survey Area 
 
Description of the Survey Area 
 
4ÈÅ ÉÄÅÎÔÉÆÉÅÄ ÓÕÒÖÅÙ ÁÒÅÁ ɉȰ3ÕÒÖÅÙ !ÒÅÁȱɊ ÃÏÒÒÅÓÐÏÎÄÓ ×ÉÔÈ ÔÈÅ ÂÏÕÎÄÁÒÙ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ 
Brentwood-Pacific Palisades ComÍÕÎÉÔÙ 0ÌÁÎ !ÒÅÁ ɉȰ#0!ȱɊȢ ,ÏÃÁÔÅÄ ÁÐÐÒÏØÉÍÁÔÅÌÙ 
fifteen miles west of downtown Los Angeles, the Survey Area consists of two distinct 
communities: Pacific Palisades occupies the western portion of the CPA; Brentwood 
occupies the eastern portion. The Survey Area is bounded generally by Mulholland 
Drive on the north; the 405 Freeway on the east; Wilshire Boulevard and the City of 
Santa Monica on the south; the Pacific Ocean on the southwest; and unincorporated Los 
Angeles County and the adjacent City of Malibu on the west. The Survey Area borders 
the CPAs of Encino-Tarzana to the north; Bel-Air-Beverly Crest and Westwood on the 
east; and West Los Angeles on the southeast. (See Survey Area Map below.) 
 
The Brentwood-Pacific Palisades CPA contains a total of 21,298 parcels. Of these, 
approximately 19,317 parcels were surveyed by SurveyLA. SurveyLA generally does not 
include properties constructed after 1980 or resources that have been designated at the 
Federal, state, or local levels. SurveyLA excludes designated HPOZs and proposed 
HPOZs that have been surveyed within the last five years; however, this CPA does not 
contain any designated or proposed HPOZs.1 
 

                                                 
1 For a list of designated resources within the CPA, please refer to the Designated Resources map below, 

or online at www.surveyla.org. 
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Survey Area Map. 
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The topography of the Survey Area is highly varied, with the hills of the Santa Monica 
Mountains dominating the landscape north of Sunset Boulevard; over 55 percent of the 
gross land area of the CPA is public open space, located primarily in this mountainous 
area.  The beach which hugs most of the Pacific coastline has been a constant influence 
on the development of the Survey Area. The community of Pacific Palisades is 
characterized by mesas separated by several canyons, including Santa Monica Canyon, 
Rustic Canyon, Temescal Canyon, and Santa Ynez Canyon. The street patterns in the 
canyons are primarily meandering in nature, dictated by the topography. Streambeds 
run along the base of some of the canyons. Development in Pacific Palisades has been 
affected over the years by natural phenomena, specifically the erosion of the palisades 
overlooking the coast highway and the Pacific Ocean, and the flooding of the creek that 
was subsequently channelized in Santa Monica Canyon.  
 
In the Brentwood community, the area south of Sunset Boulevard generally slopes 
gently upwards to the north, with grid-patterned subdivisions dominating south of San 
Vicente Boulevard and immediately west of the 405 Freeway in the Brentwood Glen 
neighborhood. Gently curving streets with generously sized lots are found in the area 
between San Vicente and Sunset Boulevards west of Barrington Avenue. This street 
plan continues north of Sunset, merging into the hills and canyons, principally 
Mandeville Canyon and Kenter Canyon. Nearly all of the improved streets contain 
single-family houses, with multi-family residences confined primarily to the area 
between San Vicente and Wilshire Boulevards and in the vicinity of the Barrington 
Avenue corridor.  
 
The Survey Area in its entirety is traversed by the circuitous route of Sunset Boulevard 
on the westernmost leg of its journey from the original pueblo of Los Angeles to the sea.  
Originally known as Beverly Boulevard, Sunset was extended all the way to the Pacific 
in 1926, stimulating residential development ÁÌÏÎÇ ÉÔÓ ÐÁÔÈȢ (ÉÓÔÏÒÉÃÁÌÌÙ ÔÈÅ Ȱ-ÁÉÎ 
3ÔÒÅÅÔȱ ÏÆ "ÒÅÎÔ×ÏÏÄȟ 3ÁÎ 6ÉÃÅÎÔÅ "ÏÕÌÅÖard provides a second east-west corridor that 
continues within the City of Santa Monica west of 26th Street all the way to Ocean 
Avenue. Similarly, Wilshire Boulevard and Montana Avenue function as east-west 
arterials, crossing into Santa Monica west of Carmelina Avenue. Although Mulholland 
Drive forms much of the northernmost boundary of the Survey Area, it is largely 
inaccessible, except from the eastern edge of the CPA at Sepulveda Boulevard.  Major 
north-south thoroughfares include Barrington and Bundy Avenues, as well as the 405 
Freeway in Brentwood and Pacific Coast Highway in Pacific Palisades. Both San Vicente 
Boulevard and Pacific Coast Highway were locations of former railroad and streetcar 
ÌÉÎÅÓ ÁÎÄ ÆÉÇÕÒÅÄ ÐÒÏÍÉÎÅÎÔÌÙ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÆÁÍÅÄ Ȱ"ÁÌÌÏÏÎ 2ÏÕÔÅȱ excursions of the 
interurban Pacific Electric railway. 
 
Overwhelmingly residential in development, the Survey Area also contains a handful of 
historic commercial clusters that service the surrounding neighborhoods. These are 
located along the eastern stretch of San Vicente Boulevard, at 26th Street and San 
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Vicente Boulevard (Brentwood Country Mart), and at the intersection of Barrington 
Avenue and Sunset Boulevard (Brentwood Village) in the Brentwood area. In addition, 
the Wilshire corridor is entirely commercial in use, although most of the extant 
development dates from the later part of the 20th century. In Pacific Palisades, historic 
commercial development is limited to small segments of West Channel Road and Sunset 
Boulevard where they meet Pacific Coast Highway and the historic center of the 
community in the vicinity of the intersection of Sunset Boulevard and Via de la Paz. 
There are no extant industrial uses in the Survey Area. Two country clubs, Riviera at the 
inland edge of Pacific Palisades, and Brentwood near the western end of Brentwood, 
provide verdantly landscaped islands in the midst of residential neighborhoods, and are 
complemented by the Bel-Air Bay Club, established as a coastal counterpart of the Bel-
Air Country Club in the late 1920s. Will Rogers State Historic Park occupies a 
substantial portion  of the former Pacific Palisades estate of the renowned entertainer, 
complete with ranch house and polo field. Three more recent sites in the Survey Area 
are the Getty Villa, opened in 1974 on the Claude Parker/Getty Estate adjacent to 
Malibu; the Getty Center campus of the J. Paul Getty Museum, opened in 1997 on a 
plateau overlooking the Sepulveda Pass in Brentwood; and the Skirball Cultural Center, 
located at the northeast corner of the Survey Area since 1996. 
 
The topography and the development history of the Survey Area have resulted in 
strongly identifiable neighborhoods. In Pacific Palisades, these include Santa Monica 
Canyon, Rustic Canyon, the Founders Tracts (No. 1 and No. 2), The Riviera, 
Castellammare, Miramar, and Huntington Palisades. Sullivan Canyon straddles the 
border between the two communities. Brentwood neighborhoods include Westgate, 
Brentwood Park, Brentwood Glen, Mandeville Canyon, Kenter Canyon, and Crestwood 
Hills. The terrain has also led to some natural disasters, including fires and landslides, 
that have periodically impacted the Survey Area, most devastatingly the Bel-Air Fire of 
1961, which claimed hundreds of homes.  
 
The Survey Area occupies all of Rancho Boca de Santa Monica and parts of Rancho San 
Vicente y Santa Monica, and descendants of the rancho grantees still reside in the Santa 
Monica canyon section of Pacific Palisades. The majority  of the Survey Area was 
annexed to the City of Los Angeles on June 14, 1916 as part of the Westgate annexation. 
The remainder, Santa Monica Canyon, was annexed almost a decade later, on April 28, 
1925. The rich historical legacy of the Survey Area spans both pre- and post-annexation 
periods, with the most intense development occurring during the 1920s and the post-
World War II boom of the 1950s. Both Brentwood and Pacific Palisades evolved as a 
mostly affluent area of predominantly single-family homes, a direction which was 
determined by the subdividers. In part because of the generous budgets that well-
heeled property owners made available for home construction, most neighborhoods 
showcase numerous examples of outstanding residential architecture, ranging in style 
from the Spanish Colonial Revival favored by architects such as John Byers in the 1920s, 
to the modern architecture developed by Richard Neutra and the so-ÃÁÌÌÅÄ Ȱ3ÅÃÏÎÄ 
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'ÅÎÅÒÁÔÉÏÎȱ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÍÉÄ-twentieth century, and the California ranch houses created by 
Cliff May in the postwar era. 
 
Pacific Palisades was the headquarters of the innovative Case Study House program 
conceived by Arts and Architecture editor John Entenza in 1945. Attractive and 
challenging building sites, many on canyon hillsides or offering spectacular ocean, 
mountain, or city views, and the presence of a growing community of artists, writers, 
and other creative types, particularly in Pacific Palisades, also drew architects and 
designers to the area, several of whom decided to make their own homes in the area. 
Not surprisingly, numerous Hollywood celebrities settled in Pacific Palisades and 
Brentwood, their homes widely published on postcards and in magazines. A big draw of 
the Survey Area, both to entertainment industry figures and others, was its rustic 
character and terrain that offered ample opportunities to pursue equestrian activities. 
Equestrian facilities in the CPA were utilized by the 1932 Olympics held in Los Angeles. 
Several large estates with paddocks, stables, and horse trails, such as the 120-acre 
Robert Taylor estate in upper Mandeville Canyon, are the legacy of this era. 
 
Ethnicity in the Survey Area subsequent to the Rancho era has been and continues to be 
predominantly Anglo. Initially, this was mandated by deed restrictions, which limited 
lot and home purchasers to Caucasians. A short-lived (1899-1920) Japanese fishing 
village was located along the coast between the mouths of Potrero and Temescal 
Canyons; this enterprise also included a small population of Russian fishermen. 
Beginning with the arrival of Austrians Berthold and Salka Viertel in 1929, and 
continuing into the 1930s and 1940s, Pacific Palisades became a center for European 
émigrés, many of them internationally known writers, artists, and musicians escaping 
Nazi Germany. Several of these new arrivals were Jewish, and over the intervening 
years the Survey Area as a whole has become home to a substantial Jewish population. 
More recent arrivals have included many Asians and Iranians. 
 
 
Pacific Palisades Development History 
 
Most of Pacific Palisades lies within the boundaries of the Rancho Boca de Santa Monica, 
which was granted by the Mexican governor of California to Francisco Marquez and 
Ysidro Reyes in 1839. Marquez, a blacksmith, built an adobe on the slopes of Santa 
Monica Canyon where San Lorenzo Street lies today. Reyes, whose primary residence 
was in the Los Angeles pueblo, maintained a ranch on the hills adjacent to Rustic 
Canyon. The rancho was used primarily for grazing cattle and sheep. 
 
The area that would become Pacific Palisades remained mostly agricultural well into 
the first decades of the 20th century. However, as early as the 1860s, Santa Monica 
Canyon had become popular with the residents of Los Angeles as a destination to 
escape the summer heat. Two hotels had been erected by 1874, and seasonal 
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businesses, including bathhouses, a restaurant, dance pavilion, restaurant, saloon, 
grocery and horse facilities, sprang up to serve the tent camps that housed the visitors. 
It was reported in 1876 that 45 families were living in tents, their numbers swelling by 
several hundred on the weekends. 
 
Abbot Kinney, the eventual founder of Venice, California, purchased the mesa west of 
Santa Monica Canyon from one of the Marquez heirs in 1887 and announced plans for 
Ȱ3ÁÎÔÁ -ÏÎÉÃÁ (ÅÉÇÈÔÓȱ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÙ ×ÈÉÃÈ ÅÖÅÎÔÕÁÌÌÙ ÂÅÃÁÍÅ ËÎÏ×Î ÁÓ ÔÈÅ 
Huntington Palisades. However, the collapse of the Los Angeles regional land boom the 
following year led Kinney to abandon his plans, and to sell the property to railroad 
baron Collis P. Huntington in 1891. Kinney, along with Senator Jones and Arcadia de 
Baker, also established the first forestry station in the nation in Rustic Canyon in 1887. 
The station, whose purpose was to study the usefulness of non-native trees such as 
eucalyptus, was operated by the University of California from 1893 until its demise in 
1923.2 
 
(ÕÎÔÉÎÇÔÏÎȭÓ ÉÎÔÅÒÅÓÔ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÁÒÅÁ ÏÒÉÇÉÎÁÌÌÙ ÆÏÃÕÓÅÄ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÅÓÔÁÂÌÉÓÈÍÅÎÔ ÏÆ Á ÄÅÅÐ 
×ÁÔÅÒ ÐÏÒÔ ÔÏ ÓÅÒÖÅ ÔÈÅ #ÉÔÙ ÏÆ ,ÏÓ !ÎÇÅÌÅÓȢ 4Ï×ÁÒÄÓ ÔÈÁÔ ÅÎÄȟ ÈÅ ÂÕÉÌÔ ÔÈÅ Ȱ,ÏÎÇ 7ÈÁÒÆȱ 
at the foot of Potrero Canyon in 1893, a mile-long facility complete with railroad, coal 
bunkers, warehouse, employee living quarters, and public dining room. Although the 
endeavor met with some initial success, the question of the location of the Port of Los 
Angeles was resolved after intense competition among a handful of shoreline 
communities in 1897 in favor of San Pedro. The last ships arrived at the Long Wharf in 
1908. The wharf lived on as a tourist destination, accessed by a trolley from Santa 
Monica, but was demolished in stages, and disappeared entirely by 1920. Adjacent to 
the wharf, and extending northwest to the mouth of Temescal Canyon, a Japanese 
fishing village was established in 1899 by fisherman Hatsuji Sano on land leased from 
the railroad. Eventually the home of about 300 Japanese families and a small number of 
Russians, the village also included two hotels. However, this venture was largely 
abandoned by 1920, by which time most of the fisherman had moved to Terminal 
Island and the property was condemned. 
 
A turning point in the development of Pacific Palisades, as well as the inland area that 
would become Brentwood, was the formation of the Santa Monica Land and Water 
Company in 1897. Founded by Senator Jones and Arcadia de Baker with 30,000 acres of 
land from both the Rancho Boca de Santa Monica and Rancho San Vicente y Santa 
Monica, this enterprise had been acquired in its entirety by Canadian Robert C. Gillis by 
1906. Gillis headed the organization until his death in 1947. Under the aegis of the 
Santa Monica Land Company, owned by Gillis, railroad entrepreneur Robert P. 
Sherman, and Charles Le Roy Bundy, subdivision began in earnest in 1912 in Santa 
Monica Canyon and lower Rustic Canyon. Roads were graded and lots were laid out and 

                                                 
2 Santa Monica Forestry Station Eucalyptus Grove is a designated Historic-Cultural Monument. 
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speculative houses, many by Frank L. Bundy, constructed. Several commercial buildings 
rose at the mouth of Santa Monica Canyon. By 1916, the Canyon was mostly subdivided. 
An ambitious plan by the firm of Wright, Callender, and Andrews to develop a large 
swath of what would become Pacific Palisades was advertised in 1913, but World War I 
intervened, and the scheme went nowhere.  
 
An interesting footnote to the developmental history of Pacific Palisades began in 1911, 
when filmmaking pioneer Thomas Ince arrived in Los Angeles in search of a suitable 
location to set up shop outside the sphere of the Motion Picture Patents Company. He 
leased approximately 18,000 acres of ocean front and mountain area in Santa Ynez 
Canyon (now part of the site of the Self-Realization Fellowship Lake Shrine) and 
invested thousands of dollars in production facilities and standing sets. At its height, 
Inceville consisted of five stages, dressing rooms, shops, offices, commissary, power 
house, reservoir, extensive horse stables and corrals, an arsenal, and a post office, and it 
employed up to six hundred people. Although Inceville was fully operational in 1916, 
two events that year portended its demise: Ince opened a second studio in Culver City; 
and a major fire at Inceville resulted in both injuries and property loss. Several 
subsequent fires, the loss of one ÏÆ )ÎÃÅȭÓ ÐÒÉÍÁÒÙ ÍÏÖÉÅ ÓÔÁÒÓȟ ÃÏ×ÂÏÙ ÁÃÔÏÒ 7ÉÌÌÉÁÍ 3Ȣ 
(ÁÒÔȟ ÁÎÄ )ÎÃÅȭÓ ÄÅÁÔÈ ÉÎ ρωςτ ÕÎÄÅÒ ÍÙÓÔÅÒÉÏÕÓ ÃÉÒÃÕÍÓÔÁÎÃÅÓ ÐÕÔ ÁÎ ÅÎÄ ÔÏ )ÎÃÅÖÉÌÌÅȢ  
 
The formal founding of the community of Pacific Palisades dates to the year 1921, when 
the Methodist Camp Meeting and Chautauqua Association, having outgrown its earlier 
locations in Long Beach and Huntington Beach, held its annual meeting in Rustic 
Canyon. Looking for a new home and a place to establish a new community dedicated to 
Christian ideals and peace, the Association, under the leadership of Reverend Charles 
Holmes Scott, purchased 1,068 acres, not in Rustic Canyon but instead in Temescal 
#ÁÎÙÏÎ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÍÅÓÁ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÅÁÓÔȟ ÔÈÅ Ȱ3ÁÎÔÁ -ÏÎÉÃÁ (ÉÇÈÌÁÎÄÓȱ ÓÉÔÅ ÐÒÅÖÉÏÕÓÌÙ 
announced. The Los Angeles Times reported: Ȱ4ÈÅ ÂÉÒÔÈ ÏÆ Á ÎÅ× ÓÅÁÓÉÄÅ ÃÉÔÙ ÆÏÒÔÙ-five 
minutes from Broadway, the creation of what will probably be one of the largest church 
centers in the world and the investment of at least $4,000,000 in improvements within 
the next five years are some of the outstanding features of a super-church plan outlined 
yesterday by Charles H. Scott, superintendent of the Huntington Beach Methodist 
!ÓÓÅÍÂÌÙȢȱ3  
 
The Pacific Palisades Association was formed and Pasadena landscape architect 
Clarence Day hired to provide the initial concept for the new city. Bonds were sold, 
entitling the purchasers to become leaseholders and to have first choice of lots in either 
Founders Tract No. 1, located north of Beverly (now Sunset) Boulevard and 
characterized by smaller lots and narrow streets, or Founders Tract No. 2, south of the 
Boulevard and characterized by larger, more irregular lots and wider streets. Via de la 
Paz (Street of Peace) was to be the spine of the community, and a commercial section 

                                                 
3 Ȱ-ÏÄÅÒÎ 3ÅÁÓÉÄÅ #ÉÔÙ 'ÏÁÌ ÏÆ -ÅÔÈÏÄÉÓÔÓȢȱ Los Angeles Times, May 31, 1921. 
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was planned for four blocks at the intersection of Via de la Paz and Beverly Boulevard. A 
large plot was set aside in Temescal Canyon for the Assembly. The lot selection was 
held on Founders Day, January 14, 1922. The leasehold structure of the contracts 
allowed the Association to impose restrictions regarding ethnicity and acceptable 
building types, prohibit sales of tobacco and alcohol, and levy an annual fee for the 
maintenance of the institutional facilities. Within one week, 257 lots had been sold. 
Work commenced on street improvements and home construction in the spring. The 
first Chautauqua and Summer Assembly at the site was held in July 1922.  
 
Later in 1922, the well-known landscape architecture firm of Olmsted Brothers, based 
in Massachusetts, replaced Day and was charged with refinement of the plans, 
landscaping of the original subdivisions, and expansion of the community by laying out 
additional tracts, along Chautauqua Boulevard (Chautauqua Heights) and in the newly 
acquired Jones-Rindge rancho to the west. The 1923 Olmsted subdivisions, including 
Chautauqua Heights, Temescal Subdivision, Temescal Heights, Western Tract, Western 
3ÕÂÄÉÖÉÓÉÏÎȟ ÁÎÄ ,ÁÓ 0ÕÌÇÁÓȟ ÒÅÆÌÅÃÔÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÆÉÒÍȭÓ ÃÈÁÒÁÃÔÅÒÉÓÔÉÃ ÓÅÎÓÉÔÉÖÉÔÙ ÔÏ ÔÅÒÒÁÉÎȟ 
adapting street patterns to the contours of the land rather than imposing an arbitrary 
grid, maximizing views, and incorporating landscaping. By the end of 1923, property 
sales had exceeded a million dollars. Nonetheless, the Olmsted contract was not 
renewed, although a three-month extension allowed for the completion of work already 
in progress. In 1924 another milestone was reached, when the Churrigueresque-styled 
Business Block, located on a wedge-shaped parcel at the intersection of Beverly and 
East (now Sunset and Swarthmore), was completed.4 
 
In 1926, Dr. Scott and the Pacific Palisades Association, in partnership with Robert C. 
Gillis, acquired from the heirs of Collis Huntington the 226-acre tract that Abbot Kinney 
had initially planned to develop on the mesa west of Santa Monica Canyon. Civil 
engineer W.W. Williams laid out the high-end subdivision in association with Mark 
Daniels. Their May 1926 design for the Huntington Palisades incorporated wide, gently 
ÃÕÒÖÉÎÇ ȰÄÒÉÖÅÓȱ ×ÉÔÈ ÍÁÎÙ ÌÏÔÓ ÏÒÉÅÎÔÅÄ ÔÏ ÓÐÅÃÔÁÃÕÌÁÒ ÖÉÅ×Ó ÁÎÄ Á ÓÅÒÉÅÓ ÏÆ ÃÏÎÃÅÎÔÒÉÃȟ 
semicircular streets fanning out from the oval-shaped El Cerco Place. Utilities were 
placed underground and ornamental light fixtures installed. Many of the eucalyptus 
trees originally planted by Kinney were retained. 
 
Competitors for the Rustic Canyon location that had originally caught the attention of 
the Methodists were the Uplifters, an offshoot of the downtown Los Angeles Athletic 
Club, who were searching for a summer home. Modeling themselves after San 
&ÒÁÎÃÉÓÃÏȭÓ "ÏÈÅÍÉÁÎ #ÌÕÂȟ ÔÈÅÓÅ ÂÏÎ ÖÉÖÁÎÔÓ ÐÕÒÃÈÁÓÅÄ ÔÈÅ %ÄÍÏÎÄ ranch which had 
been constructed adjacent to the Rustic Canyon forestry station in 1895, as well as 
several other pieces of property. Club members, who included many of the Los Angeles 
business and professional elite, put Harry Haldeman and Howard Latimer in charge of 

                                                 
4 The Pacific Palisades Business Block is a designated Historic-Cultural Monument. 
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building and infrastructure improvements, including paths, roads, landscaping, 
terraces, and retaining walls. With the Edmond home as an improvised clubhouse, 
members constructed rustic-styled houses and log cabins on leased land along what 
became known as Latimer and Haldeman Roads, many apparently using the Pasadena-
based architectural firm of Arthur and Alfred Heineman, well-known for their 
Craftsman style architecture, to provide the designs. After the former Edmond House 
burned down in 1922, a new, Spanish-styled clubhouse designed by William J. Dodd 
was constructed.5 Additional property was purchased in 1924 and equestrian facilities, 
including a polo field, were installed over the next few years, apparently causing 
financial hardship that was exacerbated by the Great Depression. The houses passed 
into private ownership and the club sold the remainder of its holdings immediately 
following World War II. 
 
After purchasing 22,000 acres of property from the Santa Monica Mountain Park 
Company and the Santa Monica Land and Water Company in 1923, oil millionaire 
Alphonzo E. Bell, Sr. was associated with several affluent developments in the western 
sections of Los Angeles, including some in Pacific Palisades.  The first was the Riviera, 
developed in association with the Los Angeles Athletic Club, which constructed the 
Riviera Country Club in upper Santa Monica Canyon in 1927. The adjacent property was 
subdivided for luxury estates by a syndicate organized for the purpose. Like Bel-Air, 
"ÅÌÌȭÓ ÐÒÏÊÅÃÔ to the east, the Riviera was intended to reflect European style and 
gentility. Two additional tracts, the California Riviera and the Vaughn Riviera, were 
subsequently marketed by Bell associate and prominent real estate promoter, Frank 
Meline. The Riviera Country Club included a golf course designed by George C. Thomas, 
who had recently completed work at the Bel-Air Country Club, as well as extensive 
equestrian facilities and a lavish, Spanish-styled clubhouse.  
 
In 1926, Frank Meline developed CastellammaÒÅ ÏÎ "ÅÌÌȭÓ ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÙ ÌÏÃÁÔÅÄ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÂÌÕÆÆÓ 
west of Santa Ynez Canyon. Castellammare, another predominantly luxury 
development, was envisioned as a Mediterranean community, and Meline stipulated 
that home builders use Italian Renaissance style architecture. The first home in 
Castellammare, the 35-room Villa Leon (1928) designed for wool business magnate 
,ÅÏÎ +ÁÕÆÆÍÁÎ ÂÙ ÁÒÃÈÉÔÅÃÔ +ÅÎÎÅÔÈ -Ã$ÏÎÁÌÄȟ ÅØÅÍÐÌÉÆÉÅÄ "ÅÌÌȭÓ ÁÎÄ -ÅÌÉÎÅȭÓ ÃÏÎÃÅÐÔȢ  
 
A third Bell venture, developed by Santa Monica Judge Arthur A. Weber and George W. 
Ley and marketed by the Meline Company, was Miramar Estates. This 1926 subdivision 
in Santa Ynez Canyon featured landscaping by Mark Daniels and the Casa Miramar 
restaurant overlooking the Pacific Ocean. It was extensively promoted, most 
successfully by construction of the Los Angeles Times Demonstration House for Arthur 
Weber in 1927. Also designed by Daniels, the Spanish-styled house was opened to the 

                                                 
5 The Uplifters Clubhouse (now the Rustic Canyon Recreation Center) is a designated Historic-Cultural 

Monument. 
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public for the month of May 1928. Now known as the Villa Aurora, the house was 
purchased by German writer Lion Feuchtwanger and his wife Marta in 1943.6 
 
Daniels and Bell partnered again when the landscape architect provided a planting 
ÓÃÈÅÍÅ ÔÏ ÃÏÍÐÌÅÍÅÎÔ ÁÒÃÈÉÔÅÃÔ %ÌÍÅÒ 'ÒÅÙȭÓ ÄÅÓÉÇÎ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ "ÅÌ-Air Bay Club (1927-
1928). Perched on a site overlooking the sea east of Santa Ynez Canyon, the Bel-Air Bay 
Club was intended by Bell to be the coastal outpost of the Bel-Air Country Club, with 
home sites available for purchase surrounding it. Once again, Mediterranean style 
architecture was required; however, nearly all lots remained unimproved until after 
World War II. 
 
In the late 1930s and early 1940s, this area witnessed a dramatic influx of European 
intelligentsia, particularly of Jewish exiles who had fled Europe in advance of World 
War II. Writers and actors Salka and Berthold Viertel Berthold hosted a salon every 
Sunday at their Pacific Palisades home that was attended members of this creative 
émigré community, including actors, writers, composers, directors and others. 
Individuals included German writer  and Nobel laureate Thomas Mann; German writer 
and director Bertolt Brecht; Austrian actor and director Max Reinhardt; and Russian 
cellist Gregor Piatigorsky. The community also spilled over into the neighboring 
Brentwood to include German novelist and playwright Lion Feuchtwanger, and 
Austrian composer and painter Arnold Schoenberg. Other local expatriates included 
English writers Aldous Huxley and Christopher Isherwood, English actor and filmmaker 
Charlie Chaplin, and Swedish actress Greta Garbo. 
 
Sullivan Canyon, just west of Mandeville and the location of stables that Robert C. Gillis 
ÈÁÄ ÂÕÉÌÔ ÆÏÒ ÈÉÓ ÄÁÕÇÈÔÅÒȭÓ ÈÏÒÓÅÓȟ ×ÁÓ ÁÌÓÏ ÉÍÐÒÏÖÅÄ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ρωσπÓȢ !ÒÃÈÉÔÅÃÔÕÒÁÌ 
designer Cliff May, credited as the father of the ranch house style, created the Riviera 
Ranch tract, a horse-friendly neighborhood, in 1939. Custom, May-designed homes 
shared the landscape with stables, corrals, a riding ring and horse trails. Following 
World War II, May acquired additional property along the adjacent Old Ranch Road 
and designed more homes, including his own in 1954, which he called ȰMandalayȢȱ 
 
The Depression slowed the pace of development Pacific Palisades, which began to 
recover in the late 1930s and fully rebounded in the post-World War II years. As the 
community ÄÉÖÅÒÓÉÆÉÅÄȟ ÎÅ× ÉÎÓÔÉÔÕÔÉÏÎÓ ÁÒÏÓÅȟ ÏÎÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÅÁÒÌÉÅÓÔ ÂÅÉÎÇ 3ÔȢ -ÁÔÔÈÅ×ÓȭÓ 
Episcopal Church, whose Carleton Winslow-designed sanctuary (no longer extant) was 
dedicated in 1942. A new boom in subdivision and housing construction began in 1947, 
picking up steam in the 1950s and continuing in the following decades, until public 
alarm over potential overbuilding contributed to the creation of the Santa Monica 
Mountains State Park. Early subdivisions during this period were in Rustic Canyon and 
on the acreage formerly owned by Will Rogers and not part of the park established on 

                                                 
6 Villa Aurora is a designated Historic-Cultural Monument. 
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his estate in 1944. The equestrian property of the Riviera Country Club was subdivided, 
with the exception of one polo field, which became the home of Paul Revere Junior High 
School, opened in 1955. 
 
One of the largest new subdivisions was Marquez Knolls, a 118-acre residential 
development. And throughout the community, empty lots in the older subdivisions 
were improved. Changes in zoning allowed expansion of the business district along Via 
de la Paz, Swarthmore, and Sunset in the years immediately prior and decade 
subsequent to the war. Marking the postwar growth in the community, Palisades High 
School opened on a cleared and filled site in Temescal Canyon in 1961. 
 
 
Brentwood Development History  
 
The impetus for the initial development of Brentwood was the establishment of the 
Pacific Branch of the National Home for Disabled Volunteers. Opening its doors in 1888 
on land donated by Arcadia de Baker, Senator John P. Jones, and the owners of the 
7ÏÌÆÓËÉÌÌ ÔÒÁÃÔȟ ÔÈÅ Ȱ/ÌÄ 3ÏÌÄÉÅÒÓȭ (ÏÍÅȱ ×ÁÓ ÌÏÃÁÔÅÄ ÉÍÍÅÄÉÁÔÅÌÙ ÅÁÓÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÁÒÅÁ ÔÈÁÔ 
would become Brentwood. The town of Sawtelle grew up on the lands south of the 
institution.  
 
Brentwood lies within the boundaries of the Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica, 
granted in 1828 to Francisco Sepulveda. In 1905, Robert Gillis, who by that time 
controlled the Rancho lands through his association with the Santa Monica Land and 
7ÁÔÅÒ #ÏÍÐÁÎÙȟ ÂÅÇÁÎ ÔÏ ÓÕÂÄÉÖÉÄÅ Ȱ7ÅÓÔÇÁÔÅȟȱ ÓÏ ÎÁÍÅÄ ÂÅÃÁÕÓÅ ÉÔ ×ÁÓ ÌÏÃÁÔÅÄ 
adjÁÃÅÎÔ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ×ÅÓÔ ÇÁÔÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 3ÏÌÄÉÅÒÓȭ (ÏÍÅȢ 4ÈÉÓ ÓÕÂÄÉÖÉÓÉÏÎ ×ÁÓ ÑÕÉÃËÌÙ ÆÏÌÌÏ×ÅÄ 
by Westgate Acres, Westgate Gardens, and Westgate Heights. Los Angeles and Pacific 
Railroad Company tracks were installed along San Vicente Boulevard, which had been 
graded in 1905, to connect the new subdivisions by streetcar with the rest of Los 
Angeles. Advertisements for the Westgate subdivisions touted their proximity to the 
3ÏÌÄÉÅÒÓȭ (ÏÍÅ ÁÎÄ ÂÏÁÓÔÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÉÐ ÄÏ×ÎÔÏ×Î ÏÎÌÙ ÒÅÑÕÉÒÅÄ συ ÍÉÎÕÔÅÓȢ 4ÈÅ 
tracks remained in place until circa 1942, when the Pacific Electric Railroad, which had 
absorbed the Los Angeles and Pacific in 1911, discontinued streetcar service and five 
miles of coral trees were planted in place of the tracks down the center of San Vicente 
Boulevard. 
 
4ÈÅ ÎÁÍÅ Ȱ"ÒÅÎÔ×ÏÏÄȱ ÆÉÒÓÔ ÁÐÐÅÁÒÓ ÉÎ ρωπφȟ ×ÈÅÎ ÔÈÅ 7ÅÓÔÅÒÎ 0ÁÃÉÆÉÃ $ÅÖÅÌÏÐÍÅÎÔ 
Company bought 350 acres from the Santa Monica Land and Water Company and 
announced development of an exclusive tract to be known as Brentwood Park. Said to 
ÂÅ ÌÏÃÁÔÅÄ ȰÍÉÄ×ÁÙ ÂÅÔ×ÅÅÎ ÔÈÅ .ÁÔÉÏÎÁÌ 3ÏÌÄÉÅÒÓȭ (ÏÍÅ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÃÉÆÉÃȟȱ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÁÃÔ 
extended north from San Vicente Boulevard beyond Sunset (then Beverly) Boulevard, 
with Bristol Avenue, originally called Grand Avenue, as its central thoroughfare. The 
distinctive layout of the new subdivision incorporated over three dozen landscaped 
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traffic circles, one at each intersection, and approximately the same number of ovals 
situated midblock. Streets curved gracefully to follow the contours of the land and at 
75- to 180-feet wide were generously scaled. Lots were varied in size and shape and 
most had a minimum of a 100-footstreet frontage. Publicity for the development 
ÃÌÁÉÍÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ *ÏÈÎ -Ã,ÁÒÅÎȟ ÆÁÍÅÄ ÌÁÎÄÓÃÁÐÅÒ ÏÆ 3ÁÎ &ÒÁÎÃÉÓÃÏȭÓ 'ÏÌÄÅÎ 'ÁÔÅ 0ÁÒËȟ ÈÁÄ 
supervised the planting, which was said to incorporate some 80,000 trees, including 
many native sycamores and oaks.7 Restrictions stipulating minimum setbacks; 
prohibiting billboards and oil wells, business uses,  more than one house per lot, and 
distillation or sale of alcohol; and dictating race, color, and creed of buyers and 
residents were imposed.8 Despite the reputed $1,000,000 investment by its backers, 
Brentwood Park got off to a slow start, forcing Western Pacific to sell a substantial 
interest to Dr. Herman Janss of the Braly-Janss Company. By 1916 only about twenty-
five percent of the lots had been sold, but sales and construction picked up markedly in 
the 1920s, when several of the most prominent architects in the region were called 
upon to design lavish homes in the then fashionable Period Revival architecture styles. 
 
Subdivision activity also accelerated during the 1920s. San Vicente Park (running along 
Bundy between Wilshire, then called Nevada, Boulevard and Montana Avenue), 
Brentwood Canyon Estates (along Carmelina Avenue), Brentwood Green (north and 
south of Sunset along Gretna Green and Kenter) were some of the tracts recorded 
during the decade. In Mandeville Canyon, Alphonzo Bell, Robert C. Gillis, and Henry 
/ȭ-ÅÌÖÅÎÙȟ ÁÍÏÎÇ ÎÏÔÁÂÌÅÓȟ ÏÒÇÁÎÉÚÅÄ ÔÈÅ 'ÁÒÄÅÎ &ÏÕÎÄÁÔÉÏÎȟ acquired some 3,500 
acres stretching from Sunset Boulevard to Mulholland Highway, and established the 
California Botanic Garden. Residential lots on the upper slopes of the canyon were sold 
to endow the garden, for which 800 acres was reserved on canyon floor and lower 
slopes. The former dean of the University of California College of Agriculture, E. D. 
Merrill, was appointed director. Plans included artificial ponds and streams, woodlands, 
ÓÐÅÃÉÁÌÔÙ ÇÁÒÄÅÎÓȟ ÁÎÄ Á Ȱ&ÏÒÅÓÔ ÏÆ &ÁÍÅȟȱ ×ÈÅÒÅÉÎ ÃÅÌÅÂÒÉÔÉÅÓ ÐÌÁnted trees, the event 
memorialized on plaques. Plant species from around the globe were imported. The 
partially completed garden opened in 1928, but soon ran into financial difficulties and 
closed permanently in 1935. A new subdivision, the Botanic Garden Park, opened in its 
place. Remnants of the gardens, including two ponds, non-native plant species, and 
some trees from the Forest of Fame, still survive on private property. The picturesque 
stone bridge on Westgate Road is a unique visual reminder of the aÒÅÁȭÓ ÐÁÓÔȢ 
Development in the canyon was further impacted by a flood in 1938, but resumed in the 
early 1940s, much of it oriented around horse properties. 
 
While building activity may have slowed in the early 1930s, it recovered as the decade 
progressed. Brentwood Glen, although subdivided in the 1920s as the Ratteree Tract, 
saw its definitive development between 1935 and 1942. More dense in layout than 
                                                 
7 Ȱ!ÒÔ ÉÎ .ÁÔÕÒÅ ,ÕØÕÒÉÁÔÉÎÇȡ "ÅÁÕÔÉÅÓ ÏÆ ,ÁÎÄÓÃÁÐÅ !ÒÅ 7ÅÌÌ 5ÔÉÌÉÚÅÄȢȱ Los Angeles Times, August 16, 

1907. 
8 Brentwood Park website, www.brentwoodpark.org . 
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many other Brentwood neighborhoods, this Westwood-adjacent enclave saw its growth 
stimulated by the opening of the University of California campus in 1929, attracting 
many members of the UCLA faculty. It was somewhat isolated by the construction of the 
405 Freeway between 1954 and 1960. 
 
Brentwood was affected like all communities by the World War II suspension of 
building activity. In 1946, rising housing costs and the post-war housing shortage led 
four musicians to form a cooperative association for the purpose of combining their 
housing budgets, reasoning that they would therefore be able to afford communally 
what was beyond their means individually. Interest in the concept mushroomed, and 
membership in the Mutual Housing Association eventually reached five hundred. Eight 
hundred acres off of Kenter Avenue were purchased and leading architects were 
interviewed. A contract was signed with Whitney R. Smith and A. Quincy Jones as 
architects and Edguardo Contini as engineer. In 1948, the team presented the 
Association with a booklet, Mutual Plans, containing 28 house designs, from which the 
Association chose eight to be constructed. One hundred and sixty homes were 
eventually built, utilizing materials such as concrete block and wood, expansive glass 
walls, and low-pitched roofs. Communal facilities included a nursery school, credit 
union, and park; plans for other amenities and services were not realized. Crestwood 
Hills, as the development became known, was the only successful housing cooperative 
in the state of California.9 Unfortunately, approximately five dozen of these midcentury 
modern homes were destroyed in the 1961 Bel Air fire.10 
 
As construction of single-family homes accelerated to meet demand in the post-World 
War II years, builders ventured further up the canyons north of Sunset Boulevard. 
These years also witnessed a large leap in the scale of single-family development 
efforts.11 Additionally, a neighborhood of multi-family apartment buildings was 
constructed on the old Westgate tract. 
 
"ÒÅÎÔ×ÏÏÄ ×ÁÓ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÏÕÔÓÅÔ Á ȰÓÕÂÕÒÂȟ Á×ÁÙ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÎÏÉÓÅȟ ÄÕÓÔȟ ÁÎÄ ÉÎÈÁÒÍÏÎÉÅÓ 
ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÉÔÙȢȱ12 A handful of commercial and institutional developments supported the 
growth of the community. As the main street of the Brentwood community and site of 

                                                 
9 Buckner, Cory. A. Quincy Jones. New York and London: Phaidon Press, Limited, 2002. Pages 88-99. 
10 Seventeen of the original MHA residences are designated Historic-Cultural Monuments. 
11 One attempt at this larger-scale development in the postwar years was Southdown Estates. Launched 

in 1952 by Pardee-Phillips Construction Co., Southdown Estates was intended as a "luxury-grade" 
residential subdivision of two- to four-bedroom Traditional ranch-style homes designed by 
architectural & engineering firm Daniel, Mann, Johnson & Mendenhall (DMJM). Occupying 25 acres of 
the former Hamilton Garland estate near the intersection of Sunset Boulevard and Bienveneda Avenue, 
the site was subdivided into 89 residential lots. However, this plan was ultimately unsuccessful, as 
Modernist architects Jones & Emmons were subsequently brought in to develop innovative designs to 
infill on the smaller lots. As such, the original vision for Southdown Estates was never fully realized. 

12 Ȱ!ÒÔ ÉÎ .ÁÔÕÒÅ ,ÕØÕÒÉÁÔÉÎÇȡ "ÅÁÕÔÉÅÓ ÏÆ ,ÁÎÄÓÃÁÐÅ !ÒÅ 7ÅÌÌ 5ÔÉÌÉÚÅÄȢȱ Los Angeles Times, August 16, 
1907. 
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the interurban railway tracks that linked the area with the rest of Los Angeles, San 
Vicente Boulevard immediately west of ÔÈÅ /ÌÄ 3ÏÌÄÉÅÒÓȭ ÈÏÍÅ ÄÅÖÅÌÏÐÅÄ ÁÓ ÔÈÅ ÆÉÒÓÔ 
commercial and institutional enclave. In 1928, the Sisters of St. Joseph of Carondolet, 
ÃÏÎÓÔÒÕÃÔÅÄ Á #ÁÔÈÏÌÉÃ ×ÏÍÅÎȭÓ ÃÏÌÌÅÇÅȟ -ÔȢ 3ÁÉÎÔ -ÁÒÙȭÓȟ ÏÎ σσ ÁÃÒÅÓ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ "ÒÅÎÔ×ÏÏÄ 
hills. The Brentwood Country Club, which had a checkered history, changing sites and 
owners over the years, was established in its current location by the late 1920s. The 
Brentwood Presbyterian Church was constructed in 1929 and expanded following 
World War II. One of the most notable landmarks of the Survey Area, the Eastern Star 
Home, a retirement facility now the home of the Archer School, was erected on Sunset 
Boulevard in 1931, its Spanish Colonial Revival architecture by the William R. Mooser 
Company epitomizing the characteristics of the style.13 In 1943, the University 
Synagogue was organized and in 1955 moved into its permanent home on Sunset 
Boulevard and Saltair Avenue. Brentwood Country Mart opened in 1948 on land set 
aside in the 1920s Brentwood Place subdivision for commercial purposes. Brentwood 
Village developed around the same time, spurred by the post-war residential explosion 
in the area. 
 
 
Summary 
 
As of 2000, the population of Pacific Palisades totaled 23,940 and Brentwood numbered 
σρȟσττȢ 4ÈÅ 3ÕÒÖÅÙ !ÒÅÁ ÉÓ ÓÔÉÌÌ Á ȰÂÅÄÒÏÏÍ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȱ ÏÆ ÍÏÓÔÌÙ ÓÉÎÇÌÅ-family homes 
which enjoys one of the lowest population densities within the City of Los Angeles. 
While the majority of historic resource property types are single-family houses, other 
ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÙ ÔÙÐÅÓ ÒÅÆÌÅÃÔÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ ÁÒÅÁȭÓ ÄÅÖÅlopment history are also present, and include 
commercial, institutional, and religious properties. Overall, property types remain from 
ÍÏÓÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÓÉÇÎÉÆÉÃÁÎÔ ÅÒÁÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȭÓ ÄÅÖÅÌÏÐÍÅÎÔȟ ÒÅÐÒÅÓÅÎÔÉÎÇ Á ÖÁÒÉÅÔÙ ÏÆ 
historic contexts and themes. 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
13 The Eastern Star Home is a designated Historic-Cultural Monument. 
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Development by Decade Map. 
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Designated Resources 
 
The following map depicts designated resources wit hin the Brentwood-Pacific 
Palisades CPA at the time of the survey. These include properties listed in the National 
Register of Historic Places (NR) and/ or the California Register of Historical Resources 
(CR), as well as locally designated Los Angeles Historic-Cultural Monuments (HCM). 
 
For the most up-to-date information on designated resources contact the Office of 
Historic Resources. 
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Designated Resources Map. 
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Community Plan Area Survey M ethodology  
 
The field survey was conducted using the methodology established by the Office of 
Historic Resources for SurveyLA, which includes the citywide Historic Context 
Statement and customized mobile Field Guide Survey System (FiGSS).14 
 
The field work was conducted in two phases: Reconnaissance and Documentation. The 
Reconnaissance Phase was conducted by a team of two qualified survey professionals, 
both of ×ÈÏÍ ÍÅÅÔ ÔÈÅ 3ÅÃÒÅÔÁÒÙ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ )ÎÔÅÒÉÏÒȭÓ Professional Qualifications Standards. 
This phase involved a detailed and methodical review of each neighborhood, street, and 
individual property within the Survey Area. It was during this phase that decisions were 
made about which properties and districts should be documented, and how those 
properties should be evaluated. By making these decisions up front and as a team, this 
methodology ensures a more thoughtful approach to resource identification and 
evaluation, creates greater consensus among the field survey teams, and produces more 
consistent survey results. This approach also substantially streamlines the next phase 
of field survey, enabling the field teams to document large numbers of properties 
quickly and efficiently. 
 
Once the Reconnaissance Phase was completed, the Documentation Phase began. 
During this phase, field work was conducted by teams of two. Properties that were 
identified during the previous phase, along with those that had significant associative 
qualities identified in pre-loaded data in FiGSS, were documented and evaluated for 
potential historic, cultural, or architectural significance. Documentation included a 
digital photograph, recordation of historic features and subsequent alterations, and the 
ÒÅÁÓÏÎ ÆÏÒ Á ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÙȭÓ ÐÏÔÅÎÔÉÁÌ ÈÉÓÔÏÒÉÃ ÓÉÇÎÉficance. It is also during this phase that 
contexts and themes are applied and evaluation status codes are assigned. 
 
Surveyed properties include residential, commercial, and institutional  buildings; 
infrastructural features such as bridges, tunnels, public stairways, and air raid sirens; 
and important landscape features, from country clubs to landscaped medians. All field 
work was conducted from the public right-of-way. Following the completion of field 
work, all survey data was reviewed in detail by a qualified survey professional to 
ensure accuracy and consistency throughout. 
 
The Brentwood-Pacific Palisades Survey Area presented several challenges for the field 
survey teams. Many properties could not be completely evaluated due to limited 
visibility from  the public right-of-way. A substantial number of residences are obscured 
from view, in full or in part, by privacy walls, fences and dense shrubbery. In the 
canyons and hillsides, residences may be oriented away from the street, or situated at 

                                                 
14 For more information about the SurveyLA methodology, see the SurveyLA Field Results Master 

Report. 
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the end of long private driveways. Other properties were located on private streets or 
within gated communities, and therefore were not accessible. To address these issues, 
an extensive amount of research was conducted prior to fieldwork to assist surveyors 
in identi fying potentially significant properties. Sources including building permits, 
Sanborn maps, historic photos, and historic and contemporary aerial images.15 
 
Additionally, a substantial number of properties in the Survey Area may be significant 
for historic associations, most notably as the former residence of a significance person. 
Again, to address this issue, extensive research was conducted on individual properties 
to identify specific addresses and the period of residency of the significant person. 
Sources included City directories, genealogical records, voter registration records, 
census records, and historical newspapers and periodicals. 
 
Research utilized the collections of the Los Angeles Public Library; University of 
Southern California (USC); University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA); Huntington 
Library; Historical Los Angeles Times; the Online Archive of California; and the Pacific 
Coast Architecture Database, among others. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
15 All documented properties were evaluated to the extent possible based upon visibility from the public 

right -of-way and follow-up research. However, architectural descriptions and integrity assessments 
could not always be completed. In such instances, all discernible information was recorded and 
notations were added indicating that the property was not fully visible from the public right-of-way. If 
possible, the evaluation was completed based upon the available information. However, in some 
instances the evaluation could not be completed, and Á ÓÔÁÔÕÓ ÃÏÄÅ ÏÆ Ȭ111ȭ ×ÁÓ ÁÓÓÉÇÎÅÄȟ ÉÎÄÉcating 
that additional research or access to the property would be needed to complete the evaluation, per 
SurveyLA methodology. 

Many residences are difficult to see from the public right-of-way. 
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Summary of Findings  
 
The following discussion of Property Types, Contexts, and Themes relates to the 
resources identified and recorded as eligible for designation. 
 

Summary of Property Types  
 
The Brentwood-Pacific Palisades CPA contains a diverse range of extant property types, 
representing a number of periods of development. The following is a brief summary of 
those property types that were documented and evaluated as historically, culturally, or 
architecturally significant. 

 
Residential Properties  
 
The survey identified a small number of residences dating from the nineteen-teens, 
representing the earliest development in the survey area. A substantial number of 
single-family residences from the 1920 through the 1970s were identified for their 
architectural merit, reflecting a wide range of architectural style, including Craftsman, 
Period Revival, Ranch, Modern, New Formalist, and Post-Modern. The survey area also 
contains a number of sprawling residential estates. Significant examples of multi-family 
residences were not common. Identified historic and planning districts include 
significant streetcar, automobile, and postwar suburbs. Two equestrian ranch house 
districts were also identified. Finally, a number of residences were identified for their 
association with significant persons, including actors, directors, musicians, writers, 
visual artists, industrialists, and important members of the local European Jewish 
émigré community. 

 
Commercial Properties  
 
The survey identified a small number of intact streetcar-related commercial buildings, 
as well as a number of streetcar, automobile, and postwar neighborhood commercial 
centers. Other less common commercial property types include neighborhood markets, 
banks, and one example of mimetic commercial design. A small number of long-time 
neighborhood businesses were also identified. 

 
Institutional Properties  
 
The survey identified several intact public and private schools dating from the pre-1933 
Long Beach Earthquake period through the postwar period, as well as a very rare 
example of a nineteenth century school house. A handful of religious properties were 
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identified, including a significant early church and two religious campuses. Isolated 
examples of municipal service and public utility buildings were identified, including 
Department of Water and Power and Metropolitan Water District sites. Additional 
institutional types include an early 20th-century recreational development, an 
expansive museum complex, and three country clubs. One site was identified for its 
association with the LGBT community. Several World War II-era air raid sirens were 
also identified. 

 
Industrial Properties  
 
A decommissioned Nike missile control site is the only industrial property identified in 
the survey area.  
 
Other Properties  
 
The survey identified a number of unique or unusual property types. Several examples 
of public infrastructure were identified, including historic stairways, retaining walls, 
and bridges. Three tunnels were evaluated, including which provide pedestrian beach 
access, and one that allows a natural creek to run underneath Sunset Boulevard. The 
survey also identified a significant landscapes median representing a vacated streetcar 
line. 
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Summary of Contexts and Themes  
 
Many of the Contexts and Themes developed for the SurveyLA Citywide Historic 
Context Statement are represented in the Brentwood-Pacific Palisades Survey Area. The 
following is a representative sampling of some of the more common Context/Theme 
combinations used in the survey, as well as some examples that are specific to this part 
of the city. Each Context/Theme is ill ustrated with specific examples from the Survey 
Area. 
 
For a complete list of individual resources identified as meeting eligibility standards 
and criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see 
Appendix A. 
 
For a complete list of non-parcel resources identified as meeting eligibility standards 
and criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see 
Appendix B. 
 
For a complete list of historic districts identified as meeting eligibility standards and 
criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see Appendix 
C. This appendix also includes Planning Districts, which do not meet eligibility 
standards and criteria for listing but may warrant special consideration for local 
planning purposes. 
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Context: Residential Development & Suburbanization, 1850 -1980  
Theme: Early Residential Development, 1880 -1930  
Sub-Theme: Early Single-Family Residential Development, 1880 -1930  
 
This Context/Theme was used to evaluate residential properties that substantially pre-
date the neighborhood in which they are located. In some cases, these residences may 
be the first homes built in the area. Examples include a rare example of an Arroyo Stone 
Craftsman in Pacific Palisades, constructed in 1913 by early settler Frank E. Bundy; and 
a well-maintained 1911 Craftsman house in Brentwood, the earliest residence 
identified in the survey area. This Context/Theme was also used to identify the earliest 
intact houses in significant residential tracts, including Founders Tracts No. 1 and 2, 
Chautauqua Heights, and Castellammare in Pacific Palisades, and Brentwood Park in 
Brentwood. 
 

 

 

 

Address:  408 N. Sycamore Road  Address:  405 S. Cliffwood Avenue 
Date: 1913  Date: 1911 
   

 

 

 

Address:  1016 S. Bundy Drive  Address:  925 S. Gretna Green Way 
Date: 1916  Date: 1915 

 
 
 


























































































